Mr S Hearse
Chief Executive
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG
DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Date:

26 November 2021

MEETING OF COMMUNITY & RESOURCES
COMMITTEE
On:

Monday 6 December 2021

At:

Venue:

Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford - Bideford

6.00 pm

NOTICE OF MEETING

From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in person. The
Council is also required to follow Government guidance and ensure that all venues used
are Covid secure and that all appropriate measures are put in place. Members of the public
will be able to attend the meeting in person if they are registered to speak under public
participation. Any members of the public who want to view the meeting will be able to watch
through the Councils YouTube Channel https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube
To:

Councillor R Hicks (Chair)
Councillor A Dart (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: D Brenton, C Bright, D Bushby, P Christie, C Hodson, D Hurley,
K James, N Laws, R Lock and D McGeough

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting

AGENDA
PART I - (OPEN SESSION)
1.

Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting.

2.

Minutes of the Community & Resources Committee meeting held on 18 October
2021 (Pages 3 - 7)

3.

Action List (Page 8)

4.

Public Contributions
Public contributions in accordance with the current scheme. (The deadline for
registering to speak is by 2pm Thursday 2 December 2021. To register please email
dem.services@torridge.gov.uk).

5.

Forward Plan (Page 9)

6.

Declarations of Interest
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the
nature of their interest when the item is being considered.

7.

Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II

8.

Urgent Matters of information to be brought forward with the permission of the
Chair and the Committee

9.

TDC Carbon Footprint (Pages 10 - 23)
To receive the report of the Public Health and Housing Manager

10. Fit and Proper Persons - Fee setting for Park Home operators (Pages 24 - 53)
To receive the report of the Public Health and Housing Manager
11. Councillor Leather - Written Notice of Motion (Pages 54 - 55)
To receive the report of the Head of Communities & Place
12. North Devon+ Business Support Update (Pages 56 - 59)
To receive the report of the Head of Communities & Place
13. QBR 2 (Pages 60 - 62)
To receive the report of the Finance Manager & S151 Officer
14. Urgency Procedure (Pages 63 - 74)
To receive the Urgency Decision – Household Support Fund
15. Exclusion of the Public
The Chair to move:
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part I and paragraph 10
of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
16. PART II (CLOSED SESSION) – There are no Part II items
Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey

Agenda Item 2
1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
COMMUNITY & RESOURCES MEETING
Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford - Bideford
Monday, 18 October 2021 - 10.00 am

PRESENT

Councillor R Hicks (Chair)
Councillors D Brenton, C Bright, D Bushby, P Christie, C Hodson,
D Hurley, K James, N Laws, R Lock and J Hutchings (substitute
for D McGeough)

ALSO PRESENT

S Hearse
S Dorey
D Heyes
A Redwood
S Cawsey
K Brown
T Vanstone

- Chief Executive
- Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring
Officer)
- Finance Manager (Section 151 Officer)
- Major Projects & Estates Manager
- Democratic Services Officer
- Democratic Services Officer
- Senior Electoral & Democratic Services
Officer

Councillor C Leather

171.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Sean Kearney, Head of Communities &
Place and Councillor D McGeough.

172.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD ON 6 SEPTEMBER 2021
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Lock and Resolved: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2021 be signed
as a correct record.
(Vote: For 9, Abstentions 1)

173.

ACTION LIST
The action list was reviewed and updated.

174.

PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS
There were no public contributions.

Page 3

2

175.

FORWARD PLAN
The Forward Plan was noted.

176.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Declarations of interest were made when the specific agenda items to which they
related were under discussion.

177.

AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II
It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor James and –
Resolved:
That the Agenda as circulated be agreed.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

178.

URGENT MATTERS OF INFORMATION TO BE BROUGHT FORWARD WITH
THE PERMISSION OF THE CHAIR AND THE COMMITTEE
There were no urgent matters brought forward.

179.

COUNCILLOR COMMUNITY GRANTS SCHEME
The purpose of the report, presented by the Chief Executive, was for Members to
consider the equal distribution between all Ward Councillors of the 2020/21
Councillor Grant underspend to be used in the year 2021/22.
When discussing this matter and following comments made, the Chief Executive
agreed for Members to receive monthly updates giving details of their outstanding
grant monies, and to email final figures prior to the year end of the scheme.
It was proposed by Councillor Law, seconded by Councillor Bushby and Resolved:
That the 20/21 Councillor Grants underspend be distributed equally between all 36
Ward Members for use (in line with the Councillor Grants scheme guidance) in the
21/22 financial year.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

Page 4

3

180.

S106 GRANT FUNDING APPLICATION - AVON LANE PARK, WESTWARD
HO!
The Chief Executive presented the report, the purpose of which was for Members
to consider an application for S106 Grant Funding from Northam Town Council in
relation to replacement play facilities at Avon Lane Park, Westward Ho.
Following a brief discussion, it was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by
Councillor James and Resolved:
That a Funding Agreement be entered into in order to release the amount of
£34,549 to Northam Town Council
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

Following the vote Councillor Christie asked if there was a current list of S106
monies and whether it is available by Wards. It had previously been agreed that
Members are notified of planning applications involving a S106 Agreement within
their Wards.
Councillor James stated it is the intention of the Planning Manager to continue to
keep Ward Members informed, and an up-to-date list will be available as and when
S106 monies are agreed.

181.

UPDATE - FUNDING REQUEST FROM THE PLOUGH
The Finance Manager (S151 Officer) presented this item and updated Members on
the latest financial position of The Plough Theatre, Torrington, following on from the
decision made by Community & Resources Committee on 7 September 2020 to
support them with a one off grant contribution of £25,000.
It was proposed by Councillor Hodson, seconded by Councillor Bushby and Resolved:
That Torridge Officers continue to work with the Management of The Plough over
the coming months in relation to the Business Plan, to ascertain the ongoing
viability of The Plough in a post Covid-19 restriction world, with a view to bringing
an updated report Community & Resources Committee for consideration.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

182.

MINUTES OF HARBOUR BOARD
The Committee referred to Minute No. 86 – repair works to the pilot boat. Following
a telephone call received from a member of the public with information on the repair

Page 5

4

costs which differed from that in the minutes, Councillor Bushby requested further
information on the condition of the boat, details of the repairs and the costings
involved.
The Chief Executive reported that the Head of Communities & Place and the
Operational Services Manager had visited the Shipyard last week to have
discussions with those carrying out the repair works. The costing figures for the
repairs to be circulated to Members.
The Committee asked that due to the age of the pilot boat, Officers look at
replacement options. The Chief Executive said at this time the boat is repairable,
but he would ask the Head of Communities & Place to review options for a
replacement. He was mindful that over time costs and repairs do mount up and at
times it is more economical to procure new.

183.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
It was proposed. seconded and –
Resolved:
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business because of the
likely disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 and
Paragraph 10 of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

184.

PART II (CLOSED SESSION)

185.

LEVELLING UP FUND SCHEME UPDATE
Prior to the presentation Councillor Christie declared a personal interest as a
member of the Bideford Bridge Trust.

The Property Manager gave a detailed and confidential update on the recent
developments in the acquisition of land forming part of the Levelling Up Fund Bid
with options and recommendations for the way forward with the scheme.
Following a lengthy discussion and consideration by Members of the report and the
progress of negotiations, Officers were instructed to continue to negotiate with the
land owner.
It was proposed by Councillor Brenton, seconded by Councillor Bushby and Resolved:

Page 6

5

That support be given to the recommendation as set out in the report.
(Vote: For 9, Abstentions 2)
186.

BIDEFORD BUSINESS PARK LAND ACQUISITION
The Property Manager updated Members on progress with the acquisition of the
land at Bideford Business Park and the opportunity to acquire additional land for
future development on that site.
A plan of the site was circulated at the meeting.
Following discussion, it was proposed by Councillor Hicks, seconded by Councillor
Bushby and Resolved:
That recommendations a) and b) as set out in the report be approved
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (AS AMENDED)
It was proposed, seconded and –
Resolved:

That the press and public be readmitted.

(Vote: For – Unanimous)

The meeting commenced at 10am and closed at 11.50am.

Chair:

Date:

Page 7

COMMUNITY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE – 18 October 2021
Minute
No.
179.

180.

Page 8
Harbour
Board
Min. No.
86

Action

By Who

Cllr Community Grants –
Members to receive monthly
updates giving details of their
outstanding grant monies
and to receive final figure
prior to year end of the
scheme.
S106 monies – an up-to-date
list to be sent to Members
notifying them of S106
monies within their Ward

Finance
Manager

SMT 8.11.21 – SK has arranged
for ND+ to send to him monthly
updates for inclusion in Members
Bulletin

Completed

Planning
Manager

25.10.21 – SK agreed to include
updates monthly on Members
Bulletin.

Completed

Pilot boat repairs and
costings. SK and RH spoke
to repairers - Repair figures
to be circulated to Members.

Chief Executive

Cllr Bushby requested further
information on condition of
the boat, details of repairs
and costings involved.
SK to look at options re
replacement boat.

Date
Contacted

Comments

SMT 8.11.21 – Email to Cllr
Bushby a schedule of what has
been agreed. SH said to include it
will be schedule in Work
Programme for 2022-23 Business
Plan.

Replacement of boat bigger piece
of work.

Completed

Agenda Item 3

ACTION LIST

COMMUNITY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN – 2021/22
Leadership

8 June 21

13 July 21

24 August 21

12 Oct 21

23 Nov 21

11 Jan 22

1 March 22

5 April 22

Community
& Resources
(Mondays)
Finance

28 June 21

26 July 21
2 August 2021

6 Sept 21

18 Oct 21

6 Dec 21

24 Jan 22

14 March 22

25 April 22

Pensions
Discretion Policy
(DH)

Additional
Restriction Grant
Business Support
Proposal (SK)

Nature Recovery
plan (Jan W)

The Plough –
Financial Viability
(DH)

Banning of live
animals as prizes
on TDC land

Bradworthy –
Public toilets (AR)

Performance
Other

Westward Ho!
Hotel site –
Amend Covenant
(temporary bar)
(SD)

Rec from Int O&S
re: Surplus – to be
set aside for
leisure service

ND Recovery
Prospectus

Afghan Relocation
Scheme (SH)

Page 9

Urgent Decisions
– Welcome Back
Fund

Rec. from
Harbour Board
re return of Bond
to Fresh Spring
(RH)
1610 Charge
Increases

LEADERSHIP
ONLY - Business
Plan – Property
Councillor
Community
Grants (SK)
S106 Westward
Ho! Park (SH)
PART II

Leadership only

Discretionary
Grants (for Info no decision) (SK)

Bideford Football
Club (AR)

Urgency Decision
(SD)

The Globe –
financial decision
(CF/SK)

Recommendation
from O&S Internal
– allocation of
budget surplus
(DH)

PART II
Rec. from
Harbour Board
Re: Moorings

Bideford Land
acquisition – EC
Levelling Up Fund
Scheme Update
(SK)

Devon Carbon
Plan (JW/DS) –
see KB

PART II
Environment
Centre (AR/SK)

Hatchmoor Land
Disposal

Budget Special
31 Jan 33

Agenda Item 5

Strategic Plan
2020-2023
Delivery Plan + 5
Business Plans
(Jon W)

TDC Carbon
Footprint (Jan W)

Agenda Item 9
REPORT OF

Public Health & Housing Manager

To:

Community & Resources

Subject:

TDC Carbon Footprint

Date:

6 December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
1. To inform the group of the outcome of the Council’s carbon footprint review
2. To make members aware of the opportunities to “Avoid Reduce Replace Offset” emissions
3. That this report provides a basis for discussion for members on our way forward.
1.

INTRODUCTION

Torridge District Council’s Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan contains a commitment to
carry out a full review and update to our carbon footprint using HM Government – Environmental
Reporting Guidelines (updated March 2019) 1 in order to provide a sound basis to plotting our route
to carbon neutrality by 2030.
The attached Torridge District Council Greenhouse Gas Inventory 2020/2021 details the Council’s
carbon footprint (see Appendix One).
4.

TOTAL CARBON FOOTPRINT

The Council has a total footprint of 3,875.1 for the period 2020/2021. This is an increase of 131% on
the last reported footprint of 1, 678 tCO2e in 2016/2017.
The calculation considered Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions.
Scope 1 includes four emission categories:
1. Stationary Combustion: Emissions associated with combustion of fuels , typically boilers in
buildings. This includes owned buildings including leased out buildings where the Council
have responsibility for maintenance.
2. Emissions associated with mobile equipment, typically transport equipment e.g. waste
collection vehicles, maintenance vans, LA owned cars etc.
3. Process Emissions: Waste collection is part of the Council's obligations – those emissions
are included within transport based emissions (2. Owned Transport). There are no other
process emissions.
4. Fugitive Emissions: Emissions associated with refrigerant leaks from cooling equipment. No
information was available.
Scope 2 includes one emissions category,
5. Emissions associated with purchased electricity. This includes owned buildings including
leased out buildings where the Council has responsibility for maintenance.
Scope 3 includes five emission categories:
1

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/850130/En
v-reporting-guidance_inc_SE CR_31March.pdf

Page 10

6. Purchased material and fuel: Information taken from invoices and spend was allocated to a
SIC product category and goods or service. Only product categories where spend was on
goods are included. Well to Tank (WTT) emissions from fuels and processes were
calculated from all the other sections in the inventory with the exception of sections 3, 4, 8, 9
and 10.
7. Transport related activities: Emissions from grey fleet, business travel and commuting. There
was no business travel by rail, air or road (hire car) in the reporting period. Commuting
emissions were not included as this data is not captured.
8. Waste disposal: Emissions associated with disposal of the Council's own waste e.g. from its
offices (as opposed to waste produced by constituents). Data on water treatment was
included. No information was available regarding other waste production and so these
emissions have been excluded from the footprint.
9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing: Information taken from invoices and spend was
allocated to a SIC product category and goods or service. Only product categories where
spend was on services are included.
10. Sold goods and services: No sold goods or services were identified.

No. Category
SCOPE 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals

2016/2017
816

2020/21
2243.2

1 . Stationary combustion

526

1 0 8 .5

2 . Owned transport

290

2 1 3 4 .8

3 . Process emissions

0 .0

0 .0

4 . Fugitive emissions

0 .0

0 .0

SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions

792

314.4

5 . Electricity

792

3 1 4 .4

70

1312.6

6 . Purchased material and fuel

8

7 3 5 .3

7 . Transport related activities

47

1 8 .6

8 . Waste disposal

15

5 .8

9 . Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing

0 .0

5 5 2 .9

1 0 . Sold Goods and Services

0 .0

0 .0

1678,0

3875.1

0 .0

0 .0

1678.0

3875.1

SCOPE 3: Other indirect GHG emissions

TOTAL GROSS FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3)
1 1 . Offset Emissions

TOTAL NET FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2, 3 +Offsets)
Points to note

Due to a lack of detail as to how the 2016/2017 footprint was calculated, it is not possible to explain
the difference in stationary combustion or waste disposal.
However, the increase in emissions associated with owned transport in 2020/2021 will be greater as
a result of our success in increasing recycling rates in Torridge (and hence the greater number of
collections needed) and an increase in households served. However the significant difference
between the two figures is probably due to a difference in how the calculations were made. This is
purely conjecture as there is a lack of detail as to how the 2016/2017 footprint was calculated.
The decrease in carbon emissions associated with electricity use in our buildings can be attributed
to the decarbonisation of the UK’s energy supply.

Page 11

The increase in carbon emissions associated with purchase material and fuel, and leased assets
and franchising, outsourcing occurs as these were not fully accounted for previously. The figure for
purchased material and fuel for 2016/2017 solely relates to water supply.
The decrease in transport related activities may have occurred because business travel during
2020/2021 was significantly affected by Covid and lockdowns. However this is purely conjecture as
there is a lack of detail as to how the 2016/2017 footprint was calculated.
Neither footprint takes account of the Scope 3 emissions associated with commuting to work, as no
data was available on this.
The full GHG Inventory Report for 20/21 is attached to this report.
3.

IMPLICATIONS FOR OUR NET ZERO CARBON BY 2030 TARGET

The Council has set a target for its operations to be net zero carbon by 2030. In practice, this will be
extremely challenging to achieve and will impact on a broad range of council functions and delivery,
and could potentially require significant financial input to achieve.
We need to use this and subsequent carbon audits going forward to manage and monitor our route
to net zero. This will inevitably require the adoption technologies and practices which “Avoid Reduce
Replace Offset” emissions of greenhouse gases from our estate and operations, including our
property and fleet and employee travel. Given the resources available to us, this does mean that our
focus going forward will need to be on meeting the stated target for our establishment, though we
will endeavour to continue to participate in wider opportunities where available.
4.

OPTIONS FOR EMISSIONS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR PROPERTY

We have commissioned surveys of our properties to identify opportunities for improving energy
efficiency and installing renewable energy, this will allow us to quantify emissions reductions and set
targets for future years.
We are working with Devon County Council to explore opportunities for purchasing green energy
through our energy consortium.
We are looking to work with our tenants through green lease arrangements (subject to approval)
which will encourage them to use energy efficiently.
The outcome of the current asset audit will be the basis of long term planning regarding properties
owned by the Council. There may be options available that will increase efficiency of those buildings
such as maximising occupancy, co-location or even disposal/ alternative use of the property. We are
very much at the early stages of this, with carbon usage being an additional factor that needs to be
taken into consideration in the long term plans for a number of our premises.
5.

OPTIONS FOR EMISSIONS ASSOCIATED WITH TRANSPORT

When the new Environment Centre is built in Bideford there will be a considerable reduction in
emissions associated with our waste and recycling operations, as they will no longer need to travel
to Deepmoor to dispose of their loads.
Conversely, this may be impacted by emerging legislation. If we are required to increase the types
of materials we collect, we will have to make more journeys and there will be a smaller reduction in
emissions.

Page 12

In the longer term, we will need to look at emerging low impact technology for our waste fleet – most
likely either electrical or hydrogen powered vehicles, but at present this is not a viable alternative to
diesel for a large, hilly, rural authority. There are also wider considerations around the necessary
infrastructure to support such a move, as well as the funding needed to invest in this emerging
technology.
There are opportunities to replace smaller vans with electric vehicles. The Council already has one
such van being used and we are committed to reviewing the viability of electric vehicles as an
option for every vehicle procurement cycle.
In relation to the impacts from our grey fleet, and especially with the development of a new
Environment Centre in Bideford, there is a potential opportunity to move to use of pooled (electric)
vehicles. Again, this will involve significant investment.
Alternatively/ additionally, there may be opportunities to incentivise greener travel by staff e.g.) use
of cycle or public transport as opposed to car use, but this does present real difficulties in a large
rural area as Torridge. However with the Government’s commitment to phase out diesel and petrol
cars and move to electric vehicles, there may be opportunities to incentivise their purchase by staff
in the future.
6.

OPTIONS FOR EMISSIONS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR PURCHASED GOODS AND
SERVICES

Whilst there are undoubted opportunities to reduce the emissions associated with our purchased
good and services through the introduction of a sustainable procurement system, this will not be
possible to show in our carbon footprint calculations.
The current methodology used in 2020/2021 relies on carbon intensity values for different industry
sectors from 2009. Reporting in future years will therefore use the same values. Whilst BEIS has
indicated these may be updated, they are not able to reflect any changes we make as they apply at
the Standard Industry Category level.
7.

OPTIONS FOR OFFSETTING

It is extremely likely that we will not be able to “Avoid Reduce or Replace” emissions and therefore
the Council will need to give consideration in the future to offsetting. There are a number of options
in relation to this. We do intend, as given in our Carbon plan, to look at opportunities to offset
emissions through generation of renewable energy. There are also opportunities to offset emissions
through traditional carbon capture - developing woodland planting or sea grass schemes, this could
be on our own Estate or through land purchased for that use.
The North Devon Biosphere is also developing a tool which will enable investors such as the
Council to match with providers of such green or blue offset schemes in the northern Devon area.
This scheme is still under development but we have been informed that indicative costs could be in
the region of £25 per tonne of carbon.
The costs of offsetting our emissions will vary widely with the scheme we choose, and it will be
important to ensure that whatever scheme(s) are chosen will provide us with a claimable offset.

Page 13

8.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
None
Financial Implications
While the carbon report does not specify any specific investment required it does highlight
areas where financial impacts may be seen in the future as we move towards our stated
climate ambitions.
Human Resources Implications
NA
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
N/A
Equality/Diversity
N/A
Risk Management
Climate change and our net-zero carbon commitment are included on our Corporate Risk
Register.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
NA
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
NA
Climate Change
This carbon audit is a significant and necessary step on our goal of TDC being a net zero
organisation by 2030.
Lead Member Views – Cllr Hames
To be included

4.

CONCLUSIONS

This update of our carbon footprint is a significant step on our journey towards our stated ambitions.
The results highlight the areas of challenge over the coming years and it will be necessary to focus
our efforts and available resources on those projects which will progress the authority’s carbon
reduction programme. Members of this group will need to engage widely and effectively to gain
support for the changes necessary to drive this programme forward within the organisation.

Page 14

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1. That the results of the carbon audit be noted.
2. That the options for reducing these emissions be noted.
3. That this report provides a basis for discussion for members on our way forward.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Lead Member for Climate – Cllr Hames

Contact Officer:

Jan Williams Public Health and Housing Manager

Background Papers:

None

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
TDC GHG Inventory Report 2021

Page 15

Torridge District Council Greenhouse Gas
Inventory 2020/21
Company Information
Torridge District Council (TDC)
Riverbank House, Bideford, Devon EX39 2QG

Reporting Period
1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021

Reasons for Change in Emissions
This is the first year that an organisational greenhouse gas (GHG) footprint has been
undertaken for the organisation following this method. Future annual updates will include a
running commentary of the key drivers for changes in GHG emissions in this section.

Quantification and Reporting Methodology
The quantification of emissions has been undertaken in accordance with Chapter 3 of HM
Government 2019, Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and
carbon reporting guidance1.
The 2020 UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (version 1.01)
were used in the calculations2.

Organisational Boundary
The financial control approach has been used.

Operational Scopes
Scopes 1, 2 and certain Scope 3 emissions (as described in the detailed inventory) have been
measured in metric tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e).

Summary Inventory
Emissions by scope measured in tCO2e are shown in the inventory and graph below.
Total gross emissions in 2020/2021 were.

Page 16

No. Category

2020/21

SCOPE 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals

2243.2

1 . Stationary combustion

1 0 8 .5

2 . Owned transport

2 1 3 4 .8

3 . Process emissions

0 .0

4 . Fugitive emissions

0 .0

SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions

314.4

5 . Electricity

3 1 4 .4

SCOPE 3: Other indirect GHG emissions

2555.4

6 . Purchased material and fuel

7 3 5 .3

7 . Transport related activities

1 8 .6

8 . Waste disposal

5 .8

9 . Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing

5 5 2 .9

1 0 . Sold Goods and Services

0 .0

3875.1

TOTAL GROSS FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3)
1 1 . Offset Emissions

0 .0

TOTAL NET FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3 and Offsets)
2020/2021 GHG Emissions by Category
(Scope 1 = blue, Scope 2 = red, Scope 3 = green)

1. Stationary combustion

2. Owned transport

3. Process emissions

4. Fugitive emissions

5. Electricity

6. Purchased material and fuel

7. Transport related activities

8. Waste disposal

9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing

10. Sold Goods and Services

Page 17

3875.1

Base Year
The base year is taken as this year, namely 2020/2021. Subsequent years will report
progress against the base year.
Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions. On 23 March 2020 the UK
government ordered everyone to stay at home as a response to the Covid-19 pandemic.
Other than essential workers all UK residents were restricted to their homes, excepting the
purchase of food, or essential trips, such as attending to medical needs. Children were
home-schooled, many people worked from home, whilst many more were furloughed.
Restrictions were eased during Summer 2020, but a second lockdown was issued on 31
October 2020 in England, then eased again over Christmas 2020, with a third lockdown
being issued on 6 January 2021 in England. Full restrictions were lifted on 19 July 2021. To
date, many people continue to work from home. The impact of this will have been a
significant drop in carbon emissions for this period. For example, staff travel for business is
very low compared to previous years. We understand this is an extraordinary reporting
period, and that it’s likely that we will see an increase in carbon emissions in the next year.

Targets
Torridge District Council has committed to achieving net zero emissions by 2030.

Intensity Measurement
Emissions have been quoted in absolute terms only.

External Assurance Standard
None.

Carbon Offsets
No carbon credits have been purchased.

Detailed Inventory
Emissions by type and in detail measured in tCO2e are shown in the inventory below.

Scope 1
Scope 1 includes four emission categories. The assumptions made for each of these were as
follows:
1. Stationary Combustion: Emissions associated with combustion of fuels in stationary
equipment (typically boilers in buildings). This includes owned buildings including leased out
buildings where the Council have responsibility for maintenance. Data was available for a
number of sites in terms of fuel use (in kWh for gas, oil and biomass).
2. Emissions associated with mobile equipment, typically transport equipment e.g. waste
collection vehicles, maintenance vans, LA owned cars etc. The calculation is based on
distance travelled, and type and size of vehicle.
3. 3. Process Emissions: Waste collection is part of the Council's obligations – those
emissions are included within transport based emissions (2. Owned Transport). Waste

Page 18

processing is a function of upper tier authorities and so are out of scope for second tier
authorities. There are no other process emissions.
4. Fugitive Emissions: Emissions associated with refrigerant leaks from cooling equipment.
No information was available.
The results are shown in the Table below.
No. Category

2020/21

SCOPE 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals
1 . Stationary combustion

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1 0 8 .5

Bideford Town Hall
Riverbank House
Bridge Buildings
Cromlech House
Appledore Fish Dock Hubbastone Rd Oil
Barton Tors
Westcombe Depot
Windmill Lane
Caddsdown Biomass (N20 and CH4)
26 High Street

2 . Owned transport

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

Operational Services - Diesel HGV Rigid 3.5-7.5 t
Operational Services - Diesel HGV Rigid >7.5-17t
Operational Services - Diesel HGV Rigid >7.5-17t
Operational Services - Diesel HGV Rigid >17.5t
Operational Services - Diesel Van class II
Operational Services - Diesel Van class III
Operational Services - Petrol Van class III
Estates Diesel Van class I
Public Health and Housing Diesel Van class I

324.6
120.1
667.2
805.6
163.7
34.2
11.5
5.9
2.0
0 .0

Not Applicable

0.0

4 . Fugitive emissions

4

25.5
21.6
20.5
11.3
8.4
8.2
6.9
6.0
0.0
0.0
2 1 3 4 .8

3 . Process emissions

3

2243.2

0 .0

Not Applicable

0.0

Scope 2
Scope 2 includes one emission category. The assumptions made were as follows:
5. Electricity: Emissions associated with purchased electricity. This includes owned buildings
including leased out buildings where the Council has responsibility for maintenance. Data
was available for a number of sites as kWh consumption.

Page 19

The results are shown in the Table below.

No. Category

2020/21

SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions

314.4

5 . Electricity

3 1 4 .4

5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5

Burton Art Gallery & Museum
Riverbank House
Appledore Fishdock Block B
Caddsdown Business Support Centre
Appledore Fishdock Block A
Unmetered Public Lighting
Bridge Buildings
Caddisdown Farm Units
Manor Offices Holsworthy
Unmetered Public Lighting
Unit 15 Caddsdown
Manor Offices
Westcombe Depot
Westcombe Depot
Unit 12 Tamar Units
CCTV cameras
Holsworthy Pannier Market
Town Hall
Barton House Hostel
26 High Street
Victoria Park Greenhouses
Torrington Pannier Market Hall Entrance
Windmill Lane Office
4 The Square Holsworthy
Cromlech Hostel
Victoria Park Paddling Pool
Manor Offices Holsworthy
5 Hubbastone Road
Northam Burrows Visitor Centre
School Lane Depot
Bideford Quay Facility
Windmill Lane Office
Unmetered Pay and Displays meters
Middle Dock
Victoria Park Amenity Building
Manor Workshops Holsworthy
Sports Ground Changing Rooms
North Road Toilets & Bus Shelter

43.7
43.7
43.1
27.9
18.7
14.4
8.1
7.6
6.9
6.8
6.1
5.9
0.0
5.8
5.3
4.1
4.1
3.6
3.5
3.4
3.4
3.2
3.0
2.5
2.3
2.2
2.2
2.1
2.1
2.0
1.7
1.6
1.5
1.4
1.3
1.3
1.3
1.3

Page 20

No.

Coastguard Building

SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions
5 . Electricity

5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5

Coastguard Building
Churchfields Toilets Appledore
Pollyfield Changing Rooms
Unmetered Public Lighting
Torrington Pannier Market
Pipers Yard Depot
Torrington Cemetery
Windmill Lane Office
Victoria Park Cricket Pavilion
Sportsground Changing Rooms
Torrington Pannier Market Museum Entrance Lobby
Village Green Westward Ho Toilets
South Street Toilets
Torrington Commons Toilets
Sportsground Lighting
Merley Road Toilets
Stoke Toilets
Bradworthy Toilets
Halwill Toilets
Ladies Toilets Bideford Market Place
Hartland Toilets
Black Torrington Toilets
Winkleigh Toilets
Brunswick Wharf
Bideford Cemetery
Westward Ho Entertainment Unit
Mens Toilets Bideford Market Place
Entertainment Pillar 2 - Jubilee Square
9-10 TDC Units
Entertainment Pillar 1 - Jubilee Square
2A TDC Units
Westcombe Depot

Page 21

1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
0.7
0.6
0.5
0.4
0.4
0.4
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.1
0.1
0.1
0.1
0.1
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Scope 3
Scope 3 includes five emission categories. The assumptions made for each of these were as
follows:
Purchased material and fuel: Information taken from invoices and spend was allocated to a
SIC product category and goods or service. Only product categories where spend was on
goods are included. Well to Tank (WTT) emissions from fuels and processes were calculated
from all the other sections in the inventory with the exception of sections 3, 4, 8, 9 and 10.
7. Transport related activities: Emissions from grey fleet, business travel and commuting.
Grey fleet emissions (where cars are owned by employees and costs claimed back via
expenses) were calculated based on mileage claims, and the size of car and type of fuel
used. There was no business travel by rail, air or road (hire car) in the reporting period.
Commuting emissions were not included as this data is not captured.
Waste disposal: Emissions associated with disposal of the Council's own waste e.g. from its
offices (as opposed to waste produced by constituents). Data on water treatment was
calculated on the basis of South West Water's 5% Non Return to Sewer Allowance. Ie, 95%
of water supplied is considered to return to sewers. No information was available regarding
other waste production and so these emissions have been excluded from the footprint.
9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing: Information taken from invoices and spend
was allocated to a SIC product category and goods or service. Only product categories where
spend was on services are included.
10. Sold goods and services: No sold goods or services were identified.
The results are shown in the Table below.
SCOPE 3: Other indirect
GHG emissions

1312.6

6 . Purchased material and fuel

7 3 5 .3

6
6
6

WTT Emissions
Water supply
Procured goods

520.3
3.0
212.0

7 . Transport related activities

7
7
7
7
7
7

1 8 .6

Diesel, small car
Diesel, medium car
Diesel, large car
Petrol, small car
Petrol, medium car
Petrol, large car

5.1
2.4
4.8
4.6
1.3
0.5

8 . Waste disposal

8

5 .8

Wastewater

5.8

9 . Leased assets and franchising,
o u tsourcing

9

5 5 2 .9

Procured services

552.9

1 0 . Sold Goods and Services

10

0 .0

Not Applicable

0.0

Page 22

Net Footprint
As well as the headline gross footprint, the net footprint can be reported as a secondary
output. This can include reductions in GHG emissions associated with the generation of
renewable energy, and the purchase of carbon offsets.
Torridge District Council generate renewable energy at two sites: Riverbank House and
Caddsdown Business Centre.
Due to lockdown, meter readings are only available for Q1-Q3 of 2020/2021. In those 9
months, Riverbank exported 11, 878 kWh of renewable energy, and Caddsdown 8537 kWh.
NB still waiting for ofgem to confirm REGOs

Page 23

Agenda Item 10
REPORT OF

Public Health and Housing Manager

To:

Community and Resources Committee

Subject:

Fit and Proper Persons - Fee setting for Park Home operators

Date:

6th December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
1. To advise members of the new Fit and Proper Persons checks for operators of designated
mobile home sites.
2. To approve Fit and Proper Person Assessment Fee Policy for TDC
3. To approve Fit and Proper Person Determination Policy for TDC
4. To approve the Fit and Proper Person Assessment fee for 21/22.

1.

INTRODUCTION

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England)
Regulations 2020 (“the Regulations”) introduced a Fit and Proper Person test for mobile home site
owners or the person appointed to manage sites, unless exempted by the Regulations. The
Regulations apply to all relevant protected sites other than non-commercial family-occupied sites.
These include both “residential parks”, which are used exclusively residentially, and “mixed use
parks”, which are used for both residential and holiday purposes.
At the current time, 6 operators/premises within the TDC area will be subject to these provisions.
2.

REPORT

A register of Fit and Proper persons will be maintained by TDC. The applicant wishing to be
included on the register will have to show that there are suitable financial and management
arrangements in place for the site and to provide information relating to their conduct in relation to
any of the following:








Offences relating to fraud, dishonesty, violence, arson or drugs or listed in schedule 3 of the
Sexual Offences Act 2003.
Contraventions of law in relation to: housing, caravan sites, mobile homes, public health,
planning or environmental health or landlord and tenant law.
Contraventions of law in relation to the Equality Act 2010, or in connection with the carrying out
of any business.
Harassment of any person in connection with the carrying out of any business.
Insolvency within the last 10 years.
Disqualification from acting as a company director within the last 10 years.
Has the right to work in the UK

Under the legislation the fit and proper person must be the person with day-to-day responsibility for
managing a site, whether that is the site owner or a person appointed to undertake the task on the
owner’s behalf.

Page 24

Anyone currently with a licence of a protected site, applying for a new site licence, or the transfer of
a site licence to a new owner, will need to apply to have themselves or the site manager included on
the register.
The operation of a site and failing to comply with the fit and proper person test it is a criminal
offence and if found guilty the operator would be liable, on summary conviction, of a fine up to level
5 (unlimited).
3.

POLICY AND FEE PROPOSAL

In order to meet the regulations it is recommended that the Council adopts:
 The Fit and Proper Person Assessment Fee Policy
 The Fit and Proper Person Determination Policy
And approves:
 A Fit and Proper Person Assessment Fee
The fee for the Fit and Proper Person test has been calculated in consideration of the Regulations
and to the best knowledge of the officers to ensure that the fee is transparent and reasonable to
only cover the cost of the application and determination for the Fit and Proper Person test. The fee
is cost neutral for the Council and will be reviewed on an annual basis.
The fee assessment policy ensures that the fee is transparent and reasonable for the site owners.
It outlines the initial fee and the basis on which an annual fee can be calculated.
The Fit and Proper Person Determination Policy is consistent with other Council’s in England and
ensure that the determination and enforcement is transparent and reasonable for the site owner.
3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
The Fit and Proper Persons check introduced by the Regulations is a new legal requirement
on regulators/ relevant site operators.
Financial Implications
This is an additional licensing function for which a fee can be charged for its implementation.
Human Resources Implications
None
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
None
Equality/Diversity
None
Risk Management
None

Page 25

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
None
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
None
Climate Change
None
Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Cllr Hackett
4.

CONCLUSIONS

There is a legal requirement on local authority regulators to implement the Regulations. The
assessment and determination policy has been set out, along with a breakdown of the proposed fee
in order that we are fair, consistent and transparent about our approach to these provisions. In order
for operators to comply, the local authority need to have these arrangements in place. Ultimately
these provisions seek to ensure that residential mobile home sites are managed by fit and proper
persons, and ultimately look to improve the standards of park home site management.
5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1. For members to note the new Fit and Proper Persons checks for operators of designated
mobile home site.
2. To approve Fit and Proper Person Assessment Fee Policy for TDC
3. To approve Fit and Proper Person Determination Policy for TDC
4. To approve the Fit and Proper Person Assessment fee for 21/22.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Cllr Hackett

Contact Officer:

Jan Williams Public Health and Housing Manager

Background Papers:

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit
and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1034/contents/made
Mobile homes: a guide for local authorities on the fit and proper
person test https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobilehomes-fit-and-proper-persontest-guidance-for-localauthorities/mobile-homes-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-thefitand-proper-person-test

Page 26

FIT AND PROPER PERSON
DETERMINATION POLICY
(MOBILE HOME SITES)

October
2021

Page
1 27

Introduction
The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person)
(England) Regulations 2020, require the manager of a site to be a Fit and Proper
Person (―the Regulations‖). Local authorities are accordingly required to introduce a fit
and proper person test for mobile home site owners, or the person appointed to
manage the site, unless they are eligible for an exemption under the Regulations1.
The Regulations, made on 23 September 2020, allow local authorities to receive
applications from site owners, or the person appointed to manage the site, from 1 July
2021 up to and including 30 September 2021.
A local authority must be satisfied that the site owner ―is a fit and proper person to
manage the site” or, if the owner does not manage the site, “that a person appointed”
to do so by the site owner “is a fit and proper person to do so” or has, with the site
owner‘s consent, “appointed a person to manage the site.‖
Where a site owner or their manager fails the fit and proper person test, and they are
unable to identify and appoint a suitable alternative manager, who must pass the fit
and proper person assessment, the local authority can instead appoint a person to
manage the site, but only with the consent of the site owner.
Principally, the fit and proper person test applies to a ―relevant protected site‖. A
relevant protected site is a site, which requires a licence and which is not solely for
holiday purposes or is otherwise not capable of being used all year round. The fit and
proper person requirement will ensure that site owners, or their managers, have
integrity and follow best practice. Additionally, it provides the safeguard that such
individuals will not pose a risk to the welfare or safety of persons occupying mobile
homes on the site i.e. park home owners.
The Evidence
When conducting the fit and proper person assessment, Torridge District Council
(the local authority) must consider the following points relevant to the application:
1. Is the individual able to conduct effective management of the site. This
includes, but is not limited to, securing compliance with the site licence and the
long-term maintenance of the site. It follows that, the local authority must have
regard to:
(i) whether the person has a sufficient level of competence to
manage the site;
(ii) the management structure and funding arrangements for the
site or
(iii) the proposed management structure and funding
arrangements.

1

*i.e. it is a non-commercial, family occupied site under Regulation 3

2

Page 28

(a) Competence to manage the site
This includes reviewing the competency of the appointed individual. The
individual must have sufficient experience in site management, or have
received sufficient training, and be fully aware of the relevant law as well as
health and safety requirements.
The management structure and funding arrangements for the site
Torridge District Council will consider whether relevant management structures
are in place and whether they are adequate to ensure effective management
of the site. Officers will need to ensure that the applicant has a robust
management plan, this should also be reviewed to ensure it addresses the
following issues: the pitch fee payment, proximity of the manager to the site,
manager‘s contact details for residents (including out of office and emergency
contact details), the complaints procedure, maintenance, staffing, and refuse
removal. The authority reserves the right to include other relevant matters as
deemed appropriate for individual applications, this list is therefore not
exhaustive.
It is advisable that the site is managed by an applicant based in the UK and a
management structure would be unlikely to be suitable if the applicant is an
individual, or a company (including its directors), which does not reside or have
a permanent UK address. This is because there may be complex issues as a
result of this, such as needing the court‘s permission to serve a claim in a
foreign country. The applicant‘s interest in the land will also have an important
impact, as would their financial standing, management structures and
competence, all of which could contribute to the overall assessment of their
suitability to manage the site effectively.
(c) The proposed management structure and funding arrangements in place
for managing the site
Torridge District Council must consider whether the applicant has sufficient
funds (or has access to sufficient funds) to manage the site and comply with
licence obligations. Evidence of these funds should be readily available.
Third party (including an associated company) funding should be disclosed, as
this will impact on the authority‘s ability to deem whether the application is
financially viable.
2. Personal information relating to the applicant concerned. This includes a
criminal record check and should include evidence that the applicant:
(a) has not committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty,
violence, firearms or drugs or any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual
Offences Act 2003 (offences attracting notification requirements);

Page
3 29

(b) has not contravened any provision of the law relating to housing, caravan
sites, mobile homes, public health, planning or environmental health or of
landlord and tenant law;
(c) has not contravened any provision of the Equality Act 2010 in, or in
connection with, the carrying on of any business;
(d) has not harassed any person in, or in connection with, the carrying on of
any business;
(e) is not or has not been within the past 10 years, personally insolvent;
(f) is not or has not been within the past 10 years, disqualified from acting
as a company director;
(g) has the right to work in the United Kingdom and,
(h) is a member of any redress scheme enabling complaints to be dealt with
in connection with the management of the site (when this is in place).
Torridge District Council has a duty to investigate any conduct which could
amount to harassment and any evidence obtained will be reviewed to determine
whether it is sufficient to be used to prosecute a site owner. Officers may also
rely on convictions by the courts as evidence of harassing behaviour which
would reduce the risk of the local authority being successfully challenged on
any refusal to approve an applicant on this basis.
Torridge District Council may have records of previous harassment complaints
made against a site owner or their manager. Even if no action was taken on
these complaints, these can still be taken into consideration in the fit and
proper person determination. These complaints may identify further potential
risks and can also provide an indication of potential underlying problems with
the management of the site or the site owner‘s lack of experience/skills in
dealing with customers. Officers can address any underlying issues by
attaching conditions to the individual‘s entry on the register.
3. Upon rejection of a person‘s application by Torridge District Council this will be
centrally recorded and include the details of the person involved and the reasons
for the rejection.
Items to take into consideration
4. ―The applicant‖ is defined at paragraph 2 of the Regulations as ―the person who
makes an application under regulation 6‖.
5. The ―relevant person‖ is also defined at paragraph 2 of the Regulations to mean
―the subject of the fit and proper person assessment under Regulation 7‖.
6. The conduct of any person associated or formerly associated with the relevant
person (whether on a personal, work or other basis) is also an important factor to
be considered in the fit and proper person assessment.
7. Site owners may be required to provide details of any current or former associates
of the relevant person in the application form. Those associates will not include

4

Page 30

other current joint owners as that information would have already needed to have
been provided in their own application forms.
8. It is not routinely required to provide information of all current or past associates of
the site owner. However, it is advisable that, prior to making any final decisions,
officers consider the conduct of past and current associates relevant to that
individual‘s application. The site owner can be asked to provide additional
information during the application process.
9. Officers will be required to establish whether an individual is considered to be an
associate of the relevant person and then whether their conduct is relevant to the
application. A relevant associate could be defined as any individual who may have
played a part, directly or indirectly, in a decision or action, which has had an impact
on residents‘ rights, or the quiet enjoyment of their homes.
10.The Regulations are drafted widely giving the opportunity for local authorities to
take into consideration other relevant matters. However, officers should be
cognisant that poor management practices do not affect a person‘s conduct, unless
they are also a breach of the criminal or civil law. A person cannot be deemed unfit
due to conduct, simply because of poor management, although that factor is highly
relevant to determining any question of suitability or competence. However, all
conduct is relevant in relation to the person‘s fitness to hold a licence and/or
manage the particular mobile home site.
11.Officers are able to decide the specific matters they deem relevant to the fit and
proper person application. These matters could be in relation to current or previous
issues, or events, that have occurred in relation to the park site or any other park
site owned or managed by the site owner or site manager in another local authority
area. Additionally, the site owner‘s conduct regarding other business, outside of
the park homes sector, can also have implications on the financial and
management arrangements of the site in question. Any matters which are believed
to be of relevance to the application should primarily focus on the relevant person‘s
conduct, competence and their suitability to manage the site.
12. It is advisable that evidence is obtained by officers to support any additional
matters that they require to be taken into consideration for the application. This is
to mitigate any risks should they face being challenged at a tribunal because of
their final decision. The evidence could include previous tribunal and court
decisions, documents or records from Companies House, or other public bodies or
financial institutions. Allegations which have not been investigated or documented
may be difficult to use as evidence to support the authority‘s decision.
Applications
The Regulations use various terms in the application process and these are outlined
below:
As mentioned earlier “Relevant person” is defined in paragraph 2 of the
Regulations and is ―the subject of the fit and proper person assessment under

Page
5 31

Regulation 7‖. Please note that this could be the site owner or person appointed to
manage the site by the site owner.
“Relevant officer” is defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 of the Regulations, where
the applicant is a company, a relevant officer will be a director or other officer of the
company; or, where the applicant is a partnership, a partner; or, where the applicant
is a body corporate, a member of the management committee of that body.
―Required Information‖ is defined in paragraph 14 of Schedule 2 of the Regulations
as: the person‘s name and business contact details; details of the person‘s role or
proposed role in relation to the management of the site; where the person has not yet
been appointed, the address, telephone number and email address (if any) at which
the person may be contacted in respect of the application; details of each relevant
protected site (other than that to which the registration application relates) — for which
the person holds a licence issued under section 3 of the Caravan Sites and Control of
Development Act 1960, or in which the person has a legal estate or equitable interest,
or which the person manages.
The application for inclusion in the fit and proper register, must therefore include the
following:
The applicant and site details required
13.Details of the site and the applicant:
(1) The applicant‘s name and business contact details.
(2) Where the applicant is not an individual, the following information in
relation to the individual completing the application on behalf of the applicant
and each relevant officer:
(i) the person‘s name;
(ii) details of the person‘s role (if any) in relation to the
management of the site.
(3) The name and address of the site.
(4) Evidence of the applicant‘s legal estate or equitable interest in the site.
(5) Confirmation that the applicant is the occupier within the meaning of
section 1 of the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960.
(6) The name and business contact details of any other person that has a legal
estate or equitable interest in the site.
14.The name and address of each other relevant protected sites:
(1) for which the applicant holds a licence issued under section 3 of the
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960;
(2) in which the applicant has a legal estate or equitable interest; or
(3) that the applicant manages.
15.The applicant must clearly specify whether their application is made in respect of
either the applicant, or site owner, or the person that the applicant or site owner
has
appointed
to
manage
the
site.

6

Page 32

Information relating to the site manager
16.In circumstances where a ―site manager‖ has been appointed to manage a site
more information is needed. The person who is applying for the site manager to be
registered as a fit and proper person (the relevant person) must provide the
following information: the site manager‘s name and details of that person‘s role (if
any) in relation to the management of the site.
If the site manager has appointed or intends to appoint a further individual (―A‖),
‗Required Information‘ would also be needed from A. And where A is not a
relevant officer of the site manager, the relevant officer to whom A is
accountable for the day-to-day management of the site, should be the one to
provide the Required Information.
Additional information when the applicant is the relevant person and an individual
17.When the applicant is the relevant person, and is an individual, and the applicant
has appointed, or intends to appoint, someone else (―B‖) to be responsible for the
day-to-day management of the site, ‗Required Information‘ would be needed from
B. If B is not an individual but is, instead, for example, a company, and B has
appointed an individual (―C‖) to do the-day-to day management, ‗Required
Information‘ would be needed from C. Where C is not a Relevant officer of a
company, the relevant officer to whom C is accountable for the day-to-day
management of the site would also need to provide the Required information.
Additional information where applicant is relevant person and not an individual
18.When the applicant is the relevant person but is not an individual and the applicant
has appointed or intends to appoint someone else (―B‖) to be responsible for the
day-to-day management of the site, Required information would be needed from
this person. If B is not a Relevant officer of the applicant the person to whom B is
accountable for the day-to-day management of the site (―C‖) would also need to
provide the Required Information. Where B itself is not an individual, the individual
(―D‖) that B has appointed or intends to appoint to be responsible for the day-today management of the site would also need to provide the Required Information.
Where D is not a Relevant officer of B, the relevant Officer to whom D is
accountable for the day-to-day management of the site would also need to provide
the Required Information.
19.It can be seen from the above that the Regulations prohibit the operation of a
relevant protected site unless the site owner or its site manager (whatever the
management structure might be) has been assessed by the local authority as a fit
and proper person to do so. This has been included to ensure that consistent
standards are applied to companies and other organisations that are not
individuals.
Criminal record certificate/s
20. Criminal Records Certificates must be issued under section 113A (1) of the Police
Act 1997 and will be required where: (a) the Relevant person is an individual and

Page
7 33

(b) for each individual in relation to whom the applicant is required to provide
information for example, a site manager or individuals A, B, C or D as outlined
above.
21.The application will need to be accompanied by a basic DBS certificate.
22.The certificate must have been issued no more than six months before the date of
the application. It is incumbent upon the site owner to ensure that any certificates
provided meet this requirement.
Declaration
A declaration made and signed by the ―appropriate person‖, which means:
(a) where the applicant is a company, a director or other officer of the company;
(b) where the applicant is a partnership, one of the partners;
(c) where the applicant is a body corporate and the conduct of the management of
the body is vested in its members, a member;
(d) where the applicant is not a body falling within (a) to (c) above, a member of
the management committee;
(e) where the applicant is an individual, that individual.
23.Where the applicant is not the relevant person, the declaration must confirm that
the applicant has made all reasonable enquires into the matters mentioned in
paragraph 9 of the Regulations and considerations relevant to the fit and proper
person assessment as set out below.
24.The declaration should also state that the information provided in the application is
correct and complete to the best of the applicant‘s knowledge and belief.
Considerations relevant to fit and proper person assessment
25.Proper management of the site includes, but is not limited to, securing compliance
with the site licence and the long term maintenance of the site.
26.To be able to secure the proper management of the site, officers must (amongst
other things) have regard to whether the relevant person has a sufficient level of
competence to manage the site and the management structure or proposed
management structure and funding arrangements.
Decisions, notification and rights of appeal
27.The local authority must make a decision on the application in a timely and
practicable manner and either:
(a) where the decision is to grant the application unconditionally and
include the relevant person on the register for 5 years, serve a final
decision notice on the applicant; or
(b) otherwise, serve a preliminary decision notice on the applicant.

8

Page 34

28.On receipt of an application the local authority may:
(a) grant the application unconditionally;
(b) grant the application subject to conditions; or
(c) reject the application.
Granting the application unconditionally
29.Where officers are satisfied that the applicant meets the fit and proper person test
unconditionally, they must include the applicant on the register for 5 years. The
authority must issue a final decision notice to the applicant to inform them of its
decision.
30.The final decision notice must clearly state:
(a) the date the final decision notice is served;
(b) the final decision;
(c) the reasons for the decision;
(d) when the decision is to take effect;
(e) information about:
(i) the right of appeal to the First Tier Tribunal; and
(ii) the period within which an appeal may be made.
To include the applicant on the register subject to certain condition(s)
31.In some circumstances, the local authority can specify that the individual for the fit
and proper person test will only be successful if certain conditions are met. If these
conditions are satisfied, the local authority can grant an application subject to those
condition(s). The local authority can also grant an application for less than 5 years.
32.It may be the case that officers decide to include the person on a register subject
to condition(s), if it would only be satisfied that the person would meet the fit and
proper requirement if the condition(s) were complied with. An applicant will be able
to appeal against the decision to attach (or vary) any condition to an entry on the
register. It is therefore imperative that officers have clear and justifiable reasons
for attaching any condition(s) and that any conditions imposed can be enforced by
the Torridge District Council.
33.Conditions will need to be clearly stated for the applicant‘s understanding and this
will also allow for the local authority to ensure that they are enforceable.
An example of the requirements are included in the Table 1 below.

Page
9 35

Table 1
Specific
Measurable
Achievable

Realistic

Timebound

The specific condition/s a site owner is being requested to
address.
The conditions required and the outcome(s) expected.
The applicant should be reasonably expected to be able to
achieve the condition. For example, it may not be reasonable to
expect a site owner of one small site to have the same resources
to introduce the same procedures as a medium sized company.
The applicant should have a clear understanding of how the
required outcome can be reached and that there are no
circumstances or factors which would make the achievement of
the outcome impossible or unlikely.
A clear timescale in which the task/action must be completed.

What can a condition relate to?
34.The fit and proper person test is aimed at ensuring that the person managing the
site is competent and the conditions should relate directly to the person‘s ability to
secure the proper management of the site.
35.Where a person has contravened legislation, or committed offences set out in
paragraph 2 above, it is not recommended that conditions are set in relation to
those matters. This is because such a condition would be unlikely to meet the tests
set out above in paragraph 33. For example, if a person has committed fraud or
violence, that specific incident cannot be reversed by requiring the person to
perform a specific task.
36.In cases where the person has committed those listed offences or contravened
legislation, these breaches should be considered, together with all the other
information available, when reaching the preliminary decision.
37.A condition can also be set with respect to ensuring the relevant person has the
ability to secure the proper management of the site. In summary, conditions can
relate to any factors which are relevant to the person‘s competence to manage the
site, the management structure, or funding arrangements for the site, an
associated person‘s influence, and any other relevant factors.
38. Example 1 - The local authority has evidence of a site owner‘s failure over a certain
period of time to address residents‘ complaints. This is an example of poor
management which could be resolved by the site owner implementing an adequate
complaints procedure. A condition could be attached requiring the site owner to
―implement an effective and accessible three stage complaints process for
residents by xx date and provide the LA with quarterly reports of complaints and
outcomes, from that date and for the first year‖.
If the condition is met within the specified time frame, the local authority can
record this in the register. If, at a future date, it is found that the site owner failed
to implement a complaints procedure, a further opportunity to comply may be
given and this could include a new condition of the site owner providing

10

Page 36

quarterly reports of complaints and outcomes for each year. The site owner
could also be expected to complete a relevant ―CPD customer service/Dealing
with complaints‖ course by a certain period. However, should the local authority
consider the actions as unlikely to achieve the desired outcome, the site owner
could be removed from the register.
39. Example 2 – If, when considering an application, certain documents or information
are unavailable to the applicant, because of delays from third parties, the local
authority may wish to attach a condition to the entry on the register that the site
owner ―is to provide the authority by registered post, with the original xx document
by xx date‖.
40. Example 3 - An associated person has been visiting the park and, through their
action ‗X‘, has caused distress to the residents impacting their well-being and
security. A condition could be attached to the register requiring the site owner to
put measure(s) in place by xxx date preventing the associated person, or any other
person, from carrying out action X on the site.
Decisions not to include the applicant on the register
41.Should Torridge District Council determine that the applicant does not meet the
requirements, and attaching conditions would not be appropriate, the authority can
refuse to grant the application.
42.Where the authority makes a decision to include the applicant on the register,
subject to conditions, or not to include the applicant on the register, a preliminary
decision notice to the applicant must be issued.
43.The preliminary decision notice must clearly state:
(a) the date the preliminary decision notice is served;
(b) the preliminary decision;
(c) the reasons for it;
(d) the date it is proposed that the final decision will have effect;
(e) information about the right to make written representations
(f) where the preliminary decision is to refuse the application, the
consequences of causing or permitting the land to be used as a relevant
protected site in contravention of the regulations; and
(g) where the preliminary decision is to grant the application subject to
conditions, the consequences of failing to comply with any conditions.
Right to make a representation
44.An applicant who receives a preliminary decision notice will have 28 days in which
to make representations to the local authority. The 28-day period begins with the
day after the day on which the notice was served.
45.The local authority is obliged to consider and take any representations it receives
into
account
before
making
a
final
decision.

Page
11 37

Final decision notice
46.The local authority must, as soon as reasonably practicable, after the end of the
period allowed for making representations, make a final decision and serve the
decision notice on the applicant.
47.The final decision notice must set out:
(a) the date the final decision notice is served;
(b) the final decision;
(c) the reasons for it;
(d) when the decision is to take effect;
(e) information about the right of appeal and the period within which an appeal
may be made;
(f) where the decision is to refuse the application, the consequences of
causing or permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in
contravention of the regulations; and
(g) where the decision is to grant the application subject to conditions, the
consequences of failing to comply with any condition.
Appeals
48.The applicant can decide to appeal the decision by making an application to the
First-tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) (―the tribunal‖) within specific timeframes set
by the tribunal. The applicant is permitted to appeal against any decisions served
by the Authority. These could include:
(a) including the relevant person on the register for an effective period of less
than 5 years;
(b) including the relevant person on the register subject to conditions; and
(c) rejecting the application.
49.Where an applicant accepts the authority‘s decision not to include the person
originally stated in the application on the register, they will be required to seek
alternative management arrangements to comply with the fit and proper person
requirement. If they fail to do so they will be committing an offence.
50.An appellant will not be able to claim compensation for losses incurred pending the
outcome of an appeal.
Withdrawal or amendment of notice
51.There may be circumstances where the authority may decide not to continue or to
withdraw a previously agreed action such as after serving:
(a) a preliminary decision notice but before service of the final decision notice;
(b) a final decision notice but before the decision to which it relates takes
effect; or
(c) a notice of proposed action but before the proposed action is taken.

12

Page 38

52.To withdraw or amend a notice, the authority will serve notice to the person on
whom the original notice was served.
53.There are no requirements for notices to contain specific information, however, it
is recommended that a withdrawal or amendment notice should state:
(a)That it is withdrawing/amending the original notice (a copy of the original
notice should be attached for reference);
(b) the reasons for withdrawing the notice;
(c) the date it takes effect; and,
(d) the implications of the decisions in relation to the person‘s entry on the
register.
Removal from the register
54.If, after a person is included in the register, and new evidence relevant to the
person‘s inclusion becomes available, the authority may decide to:
(a) remove the person from the register;
(b) impose a condition on the inclusion of the person in the register (whether
or not there are conditions already imposed;
(c) vary a condition; or
(d) remove a condition.
55.Officers must use their judgement when determining whether to review an entry
and consider any subsequent actions are required. Any such decision should be
related to the person being a fit and proper person rather than, for example, site
licensing issues which are governed separately. If the local authority decides to
take any of the actions listed in paragraph 51 (a) to (c) above, the local authority
must serve a notice of any proposed action on the occupier.
56.The notice of proposed action must clearly state:
(a) the date the notice of proposed action is served;
(b) the action the local authority proposes to take;
(c) the reasons for it;
(d) the date it is proposed that the local authority will take the action;
(e) information about the right to make written representations;
(f) where the proposed action requires the removal of a person from the
register, the consequences of causing or permitting the land to be used as a
relevant protected site in contravention of the regulations; and
(g) where the proposed action is to impose a condition on the inclusion of a
person in the register or to vary a condition, the consequences of failing to
comply with said conditions.
57.A notice of proposed action is not required if the local authority decides to remove
a condition attached to an entry. A removal of a condition is viewed widely as being
a positive step, which is unlikely to be opposed. It is for that reason that a notice of
proposed action is not required. As good practice, the authority will make the site
owner or their manager aware of the decision in writing and also ensure the register
is
updated.

Page
13 39

Notice of action taken
58.Where a notice of proposed action is given, the occupier will have 28 days, starting
from the day after the notice is served, in which to make representations.
59.The local authority must, as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the 28day period, decide whether to carry out the proposed action.
60.Where the local authority decides to take the action, the local authority must serve
a further notice on the occupier, indicating the action that has been taken, within
the period of 5 working days beginning with the day after the day on which the
action was taken.
61.The notice of action must set out—
(a) the date the notice of action is served;
(b) the fact that they have taken the action;
(c) the reasons for doing so;
(d) the date the action was taken;
(e) information about the right of appeal and the period within which an appeal
may be made;
(f) where the action is to remove a person from the register, the consequences of
causing or permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in
contravention of regulations; and
(g) where the action is to impose a condition on the inclusion of a person in the
register or to vary a condition, the consequences of failing to comply with any
condition.
Offences
62.There are 3 offences which can occur within the Regulations. They are as follows:
• Operating a site in contravention of the fit and proper person regulations - The site
owner has certain defences under the Regulations in any proceedings brought
against them.
• Withholding information or including false or misleading information in the registration
application - The site owner will not have any defences under the Regulations in any
proceedings brought against them for this offence.
• Failing to comply with a specified condition - The site owner will have certain
defences under the Regulations in any proceedings brought against them.
63.Torridge District Council is responsible for enforcing the regulations. A site owner
found guilty of any of the above offences will be liable on summary conviction to a
level 5 (unlimited) fine.

14

Page 40

Defences
64.One defence is available to a site owner who has inherited a site and would be found
to have a reasonable excuse for failing to make an application within the relevant
periods as set out below.
Relevant periods in specific circumstances
65.The below table outlines limited circumstances where a site owner may have a
defence.

Row

Circumstance

1

the occupier held a site licence immediately before
the day on which regulation 4 (operating a site
without being a fit and proper person) came into
force on 1 October 2021.
the period of a person‘s inclusion in the register in
relation to the site has come to an end other than as
a result of action by the local authority under
regulation 8(1)(a)( removal from the fit and proper
register after new relevant evidence becomes
available).
at the time that the occupier became entitled to
within the period of 3 months possession of the land
it was in use as a relevant protected site; and within
the period of 28 days beginning with the day after
the day on which the person became the occupier of
the land the occupier notifies the relevant local
authority of its intention to make an application
under regulation 6 (application for inclusion in the
register)
at the time that the occupier became entitled to
possession of the land it was in use as a relevant
protected site; and the occupier does not give the
notification referred to in row 3 above
a person appointed to manage the site no longer
does so; and within the period of 28 days beginning
with the day after the relevant day the occupier
notifies the relevant
local authority that the person no longer does so
a person appointed to manage the site no longer
does so; and the occupier does not give the
notification referred to in row 5 above
the breach of regulation 4(1) (operating a site
without being a fit and proper person) arises
because the local authority has removed a person
from the register; and within the period of 28 days
beginning with the relevant day in relation to the
local authority‘s decision the occupier notifies the
relevant local authority of its intention to make a new

2

3

4

5

6

7

Page
15 41

Relevant period for making an
application in the circumstance
From 1st July 2021 before 1
October 2021, the day on which
regulation 4 came into force
not less than two months before
the end of the period of the
person‘s inclusion in the register

beginning with the day after the
day on which the person became
the occupier of the land

within the period of 28 days
beginning with the day after the
day on which the person became
the occupier of the land
within the period of 3 months
beginning with the day after the
relevant day

within the period of 28 days
beginning with the day after the
relevant day
within the period of 3 months
beginning with the relevant day

8

9

10

application under regulation 6 (application for
inclusion in the register) in relation to the site
the breach of regulation 4(1) arises because the
local authority has removed a person from the
register; and the occupier does not give the
notification referred to in row 7 above
the breach of regulation 4(1) (operating a site
without being a fit and proper person) arises
because the local authority has rejected an in-time
application; and within the period of 28 days
beginning with the relevant day in relation to the
rejected application the occupier notifies the
relevant local authority of its intention to make a new
application under regulation 6
the breach of regulation 4(1) (operating a site
without being a fit and proper person) arises
because the local authority has rejected an in-time
application; and the occupier does not give the
notification referred to in row 9 above

within the period of 28 days
beginning with the relevant day

within the period of 3 months
beginning with the relevant day

within the period of 28 days
beginning with the relevant day

The Fit and Proper Persons Register
66.Torridge District Council must set up and maintain a register of persons who they are
satisfied are fit and proper persons to manage a site in their area. This register must
be open to inspection by the public during normal office hours. This register will also
be published online.
67.The register will provide a record of the outcome of the fit and proper person tests
that the authority has carried out for sites. The register will include the following:
(a) the name and business contact details of the person;
(b) the name and address of the relevant protected site to which the application
relates;
(c) the status of the person (site owner or manager of the site);
(d) the dates of the first and last day of the period for which the person‘s
inclusion in the register has effect;
(e) whether any condition is attached to the person‘s inclusion in the register;
and
(f) where any condition is attached to the person‘s inclusion in the register—
(i) the number of any such conditions;
(ii) the dates of the first and last day of the period for which any such
condition applies (if applicable); and
(iii) the date any condition is varied or satisfied (if applicable).
68.Where a person has met the fit and proper person test, the register will give details
of that person and of the site, including decisions made on how long a person‘s
inclusion is for, up to a maximum of 5 years.
69.In order to comply with the fit and proper person requirement a site owner must at
least two months before the period (e.g. 5 years) comes to an end submit a new
application for the person (or alternative) to be included in the register.

16

Page 42

70.Where there are rejected applications, the following information will be included in
the register:
(a) the name and address of the site to which the application relates;
(b) that an application in respect of the site has been rejected; and
(c) the date on which the application was rejected.
Details of the rejected application will remain on the register until a successful fit
and proper person application is made in respect of the owner or manager of
the site.
The name of the rejected applicant will not be included on the register.
71.Where the local authority has, with the site owner‘s consent, appointed a person to
manage the site, the local authority must include the following information:
(a) the name and business contact details of the person;
(b) the name and address of the site which the person has been appointed to
manage;
(c) the status of the person;
(d) the dates of the first and last day of the period for which the person‘s
inclusion in the register has effect;
(e) whether any condition is attached to the person‘s inclusion in the register;
and
(f) where any condition is attached to the person‘s inclusion in the register—
(i) the number of any such conditions;
(ii) the dates of the first and last day of the period for which any such condition
applies (if applicable); and
(iii) the date any condition is varied or satisfied (if applicable).

Page
17 43

Residential Mobile Home Sites
Fit and Proper Person Assessment
Fee Policy

October 2021

1

Page 44

Contents
1. Scope of Policy........................................................................................................................... 3
2. Background ................................................................................................................................ 3
3. Fee Structure.............................................................................................................................. 3
4. Costs that can be included in application fees .......................................................................... 4
5. Payment and Processing ........................................................................................................... 5
6. Matters to be considered in the Fit and Proper Person Assessment ........................................ 5
7. Application .................................................................................................................................. 6
8. Decision...................................................................................................................................... 6
9. Appeals....................................................................................................................................... 7
10. Register ..................................................................................................................................... 8
11. Appointment of a Person to Manage the Site ........................................................................... 8
12. Review of the Fee Policy .......................................................................................................... 8

2

Page 45

1. Scope of Policy
This policy sets out the approach taken in the setting of fees for the
processing of applications for the Fit and Proper Person Assessment, (FPPA) for the
owners and managers of residential mobile home sites.
2. Background
2.1 The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person)
(England) Regulations 2020 (hereafter ‘the regulations’) introduce a fit and proper
person assessment for mobile home site owners or the person appointed to manage
the site. The purpose of the fit and proper person test is to improve the standards of
mobile home site management.
2.2 From 1 July 2021 and by 1 October 2021, all site owners must have applied to the
local authority to be assessed as fit and proper persons and to be included on the
register.
2.3 Fees may be charged for assessing applications to enable local authorities to
recover the costs of this activity. Furthermore, local authorities may cover the cost of
monitoring the scheme or conditions attached to entries in the register by the levy of
an annual fee.
2.4 Torridge District Council, ‘the Council’, is the local authority for the purposes of the
Regulations and has agreed to charge a fee for the FPPA to cover the cost of
monitoring the scheme or conditions attached to the register.
2.5 Before a local authority can charge a fee, it must prepare and publish a fees policy.
When fixing a fee, the local authority:




must act in accordance with its fees policy
may fix different fees in different cases
may determine that no fee is required in some cases

2.6 Any charges relating to the Fit and Proper Person function will be limited to
recovering the costs of exercising that function. Both the level of fees and how they
are charged are, subject to legal restrictions, at the discretion of the local authority.
2.7 There are exemptions from the requirement for the owner of a site to apply for a
FPPA, some of these include:




a site that is only occupied by members of the same family
a site not run as a commercial, residential site
a site occupied by and managed by the council

3. Fee Structure
3.1 In setting its fees policy and the fees to be charged, the Council has had regard to
the Regulations, and the relevant guidance, the ‘Fit and Proper Person Test Guide
3

Page 46

for Local Authorities on Setting Fees’ issued by the Department for Communities and
Local Government (2021).
3.2 In determining those fees, the Council has considered all administrative costs
incurred in the FPPA process, including consultations, meetings, scrutiny of the
information provided on application for the assessment and providing informal, preapplication advice.
3.3 The regulations permit the Council to charge two types of fee to cover its costs:



Fit and Proper Person application fee - to cover the cost of assessing
applications to be included on the fit and proper register. Registration lasts for
up to five years.
Fit and Proper Person annual fee - to cover the cost of monitoring the scheme
or conditions attached to the register. Payment of the annual fee may also be
required as a condition of inclusion in the register.

3.4 The Council has decided that in order to limit the financial burden of this new
requirement on site owners and operators, it will not currently charge the FPP Annual
fee. When the policy is reviewed and the Council has a better understanding of
the full costs of delivering the assessment scheme, the payment of an annual FPP
fee will be reviewed and fees may be introduced.
Fee Type

Cost

Fit and Proper Person application fee:

£215

4. Costs that can be included in application fees
4.1 Many applications will be straightforward and will be able to be processed quickly
with straightforward enquiries. Others may involve complicated issues which require
extensive resources to investigate. The council will charge a flat rate fee for
consideration of all applications, based on the average complexity of a case.4.2 The
council has taken into account the following matters on which costs are incurred (or
likely to be incurred) when determining its fee policy for consideration of applications
for entry on a fit and proper register:












initial enquiries;
letter writing/ telephone calls etc. to make appointments and requesting any
documents or other information from the site owner or from any third party in
connection with the fit and proper process;
sending out forms;
updating files/ computer systems and websites;
processing the application fee;
land registry searches;
time for reviewing necessary documents and certificates;
preparing preliminary and final decision notices;
review by manager or lawyers;
review any representations made by applicants or responses from third parties;
4

Page 47





updating the public register;
carrying out any risk assessment process considered necessary;
reviews of decisions or in defending appeals.

4.3 In addition, the Council will need to make such inquiries as are necessary in
connection with the application, such as those relating to the applicant’s management
and financial standing.
4.4 All time taken in establishing the information required to make an informed decision is
included in the application fee, whether or not the entry on the register is granted.
4.5 Where an applicant contacts the Council before making an application to ascertain
the likelihood of the success of that application, the authority will give informal
advice, including on likely conditions that may be attached to an entry, so the applicant
can make an informed judgement on how to proceed with the application.

5. Payment and Processing
5.1 The Council requires payment of fees for applications for a FPPA and subsequent
inclusion on the Fit and Proper Person register. The Council will not start processing
any applications until such time as the correct fee is received. Application fees may
be paid by credit or debit card or upon request, by invoice.
5.2 The application will be processed within 2 weeks of the Council receiving the full
application and all supplementary documentation. Fees are not refundable if the
application is not granted.
6. Matters to be considered in the Fit and Proper Person Assessment
6.1 When considering whether a person is ‘fit and proper’ the Council must have
regard to the suitability of the person concerned (‘the relevant person’). Schedule
3 paragraphs 2 to 4 of the Regulations make reference to those matters that must
be considered by the local authority as part of any application. These include;
Whether the relevant person is able to secure the proper management of the
site. This includes, but is not limited to;
a) compliance with the site licence;
b) the long term maintenance of the site;
c) whether the relevant person has sufficient level of competence to manage the site;
d) the management structure and funding arrangements for the site or proposed
management structure and funding arrangements.
Other matters to be considered are whether the relevant person has:
5

Page 48

e)

committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty, violence, arson or
drugs or listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003 (offences attracting
notification requirements);

f)

has contravened any provision of the law relating to housing, caravan sites,
mobile homes, public health, planning or environmental health or of landlord and
tenant law;

g)

has contravened any provision of the Equality Act 2010 in, or in connection
with, the carrying on of any business;

h) has harassed any person in, or in connection with, the carrying on of
any business;
i) is, or has been within the past 10 years, personally insolvent;
j)

is, or has been within the last 10 years, disqualified from acting as a
company director;

k) whether the relevant person has the right to work within the United Kingdom;
l)

whether any other local authority has rejected an application for
the responsible person to be included in a register;

6.2 The Council may also have regard to the conduct of any person associated or
formerly associated with the relevant person (whether on a personal, work or other
basis) if it appears to the authority that that person’s conduct is relevant to the
question of whether the relevant person is a fit and proper person to manage the
site.

7. Application
Once an application has been received the local authority may:
a) grant the application unconditionally;
b) grant the application subject to conditions;
c) reject the application.

8. Decision
As soon as is reasonably practicable after a full and complete application is received
(including the relevant fee) the Council must make a decision on the application and
either;

6

Page 49

a) where the decision is to grant the application unconditionally and to include
the relevant person on the register for 5 years, serve a final decision notice
on the applicant or;
b) otherwise serve a preliminary decision notice on the applicant.

9. Appeals
Any preliminary decision notice will be in accordance with the Regulations and will
provide the applicant with 28 days, beginning with the day after the day on which the
notice was served, to make written representations to the authority.
Once written representations have been received the authority may then make a final
decision which may include approving an application subject to specific conditions.
Where the authority may seek to remove a relevant person from the register or to impose
further conditions a notice of proposed action will be issued in accordance with the
Regulations. Again, any relevant person may make written representations within 28
days of such a notice being issued.
The local authority may withdraw or amend:
a) a preliminary decision notice before service of the final decision notice;
b) a final decision notice before the decision to which it relates takes effect or;
c) a notice of proposed action before the proposed action is taken
A person on whom a final decision notice is served may appeal to a First-tier Tribunal
(FTT) against:
a)

any decision to include the relevant person on the register for an
effective period of less than 5 years;

b) any decision to include the relevant person on the register subject
to conditions and;
c) any decision to reject the application.
A person on whom a notice of action is served may appeal to the FTT against:
a) any decision to remove the relevant person from the register;
b) any decision to impose a condition on the inclusion of the relevant person in the
register and;
c) any decision to vary a condition.

7

Page 50

No compensation may be claimed for loss suffered, pending the outcome of the
appeal, in consequence of the local authority making a final decision or taking
action relevant to Regulation 8(1) (a), (b) or (c).
10. Register
10.1 The Regulations require a local authority to establish and keep up to date a register
of persons who they are satisfied are fit and proper persons to manage a relevant
protected site in their area and to make the register open to inspection by members
of the public at the offices of the local authority during normal office hours.10.2 The
authority must also publish the register online and the contents of the register will
be in accordance with the Regulations.
10.3 A person’s inclusion in the register has effect for a maximum period of 5 years.
10.4 The Council may attach conditions to any entry on the register. These may
include, but are not limited to, the requirement to pay an annual FPP fee, or the
requirement for the relevant person to inform the council of any changes in
circumstances in relation to the FPP assessment.
11. Appointment of a Person to Manage the Site
11.1 Where a site owner, or their manager fails a FPPA and they are unable to identify
and appoint a suitable alternative manager, who must also undergo the fit
and proper assessment, the local authority may appoint a person to manage the
site, with the consent of the site owner.
11.2 If the Council is required to appoint a person to manage the site, the reasonable costs
of this action can also be recovered from the site. If this were to be required, the
Council would seek full cost recovery of all officer time and any other resources
required to undertake this action.
12. Review of the Fee Policy
12.1 The policy for Fit and Proper Person Fees will be reviewed annually. The review will
assess and incorporate any changes that need to be made. This will include a full
review of the fee levels, to take into account the effect of inflation and any surpluses
or deficits incurred on the predicted level of expenditure in the first year.
12.2 Any adjustments will consider variations in officer and administration time to
those used in calculating the fees set out in this policy document, along with any
changes to other costs incurred in providing the FPPA function.
12.3 Changes will also be introduced into this document where necessary to
accommodate new legislation, guidance and local needs.
8

Page 51

12.4

The fees
policy will be published on the Council’s
website
https://www.torridge.gov.uk/
and if the Council revises the fee policy, it will
replace the published policy with the revised policy.

If you have any comments or queries regarding this Policy, please contact:

Janet Williams
Public Health and Housing Manager
By Email:
By telephone:
At this address:

janet.williams@torridge.gov.uk
01237 428700
Torridge District Council, Riverbank House, Bideford EX39 2QG

9

Page 52

FPP Fee Structure
Time

Page 53

Pre application communications with applicant
Receipt of application, initial check, process payment, scanning, update idox and
allocate
Check application valid e.g. all compulsory questions completed and database up to
date and information correct.
Review necessary documents, certificates and representations
Chase up/ clarify missing details/ documents - writing and sending appropriate letters/
email / telephone calls
Review history - planning/licence/complaints
Determination, set and draft conditions
Review manager/ legal

30
30

Decima
l
0.5
0.5

Role
Officer
Admin

Rate +
oncosts
39.69
18.13

Subtota
l
19.85
9.07

30

0.5

Officer

39.69

19.85

30
30

0.5
0.5

Officer
Officer

39.69
39.69

19.85
19.85

30
60
30

0.5
1
0.5

39.69
39.69
74.79

19.85
39.69
37.40

Post determination administration - preparing and sending conditions, advice to
operator
Scanning/Updating idox/public register

30

0.5

Officer
Officer
Manage
r
Officer

39.69

19.85

30

0.5

Admin

18.13

9.07
£
214.29

Agenda Item 11
REPORT OF

Head of Communities and Place

To:

Community and Resources Committee

Subject:

Councillor Leather - Written Notice of Motion

Date:

6th December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To present a written Notice of Motion from Councillor Leather that has been forwarded to this
committee for consideration by Full Council

1.

INTRODUCTION
On the 20th September the following Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Leather was
presented to Full Council.
This Council is concerned regarding pets given as prizes via fairgrounds, social media and
other channels. We are concerned for the welfare of those animals that are being given as
prizes, and recognise that many incidents of animals being given as prizes may go
unreported each year. I ask this council to support a ban on the giving of live animals, in any
form, on Torridge District Council land. That we write to the UK Government, urging an
outright ban on the giving of live animals as prizes on both public and private land.

2.

REPORT
The minutes of Full Council on the 20th September record the following:
Councillor Leather presented his Notice of Motion giving additional information on a National
Campaign being run by the RSPCA to ban live animals as prizes.
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor Clarke and Resolved: That the Notice of Motion be referred to Community & Resources Committee for
the approval of banning live animals as prizes on Torridge District land.
(Vote: For 27, Against 2, Abstention 2)
Should members wish to support Cllr Leather’s written Notice of Motion, it would be
straightforward for the Council to make it a condition of all event licenses that the giving of
live animals of any kind as prizes is prohibited. There are no obvious negative impacts of
introducing such a condition and there would be no resource implications associated.

3.

IMPLICATIONS

Page 54

Legal Implications
None
Financial Implications
None
Human Resources Implications
None
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
N/A
Equality/Diversity
None
Risk Management
N/A
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
N/A
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
N/A
Climate Change
No climate change implications.
Ward Member Views
Date of Consultation – Not sought as Council wide and cross cutting in terms of lead
membership

4.

CONCLUSIONS
Committee should decide whether, instead or in addition to a ban on it’s premises, the
Council should write to the UK Government urging an outright ban on giving live animals as
prizes on both public and private land.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that members consider whether or to support the Written Notice of Motion
as presented by Councillor Leather.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Date of Consultation – 24th November 2021
Officers Consulted – Steve Hearse, Staci Dorey, David Heyes.

Contact Officer:

Sean Kearney

Page 55

Agenda Item 12
REPORT OF

Head of Communities and Place

To:

Community and Resources Committee

Subject:

North Devon + Business Support Update

Date:

6th December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To update members on the range of business support activities currently being provided by North
Devon+

1.

INTRODUCTION
North Devon + is an economic development delivery company owned jointly by Torridge
District and North Devon Councils.
This report is intended to provide members with an update on the various business support
schemes delivered by the company and how they are performing.

2.

REPORT
ND+ Programme Update
Additional Restrictions Grants
ND+ are continuing to process grant applications on behalf of Torridge District Council for
final round of BEIS COVID support funding.
To date (5th November) across the Additional Restrictions Grant Schemes ND+ has received
and processed 1,428 grant applications, supporting 431 Small and Medium sized business
across Torridge by awarding grants to the value of £2,253,991
ARG Business BOOST programme
With the support of ARG funding, ND+ has launched a new business support programme to
support both new and existing business across Northern Devon. The programme will
support both new start up business and existing business to recover from the effects of the
pandemic and adapt to a changed operating environment.
The programme is called Business BOOST and went live in October, a press release for the
scheme went out in early October
.
To date (as of 05.11.2021) we have already seen a positive uptake of the programme in its
first month with a combination of business and grant enquiries. We have engaged with 35
local SME clients, 21 have now had 1-1 appointments with a Business Advisor with a further
8 appointments booked. This is alongside receiving small grant applications which we are
currently processing. Of these 29 businesses, 14 are from Torridge and 15 from North
Devon.

Page 56

Further promotion of the scheme is due to follow, if Councillors would like any scheme
further details to share with their local businesses, please contact Vicky Fether
vfether@northdevonplus.co.uk

In Torridge a selection of business supported include:
•
A small cosmetic manufacturer looking for grant assistance to develop their website
to improve their online presence and attract more sales.
•
A charitable organisation helping homeless and vulnerable people seeking support to
create a centre for people in need to drop in for a meal or a coffee and tap into help and
support.
•
Rural garage business, looking to improve efficiency and considering applying for a
grant to help with the cost of buying a piece of equipment to assist with development of their
operations.
•
Potential property development pre-start venture seeking support on how to structure
the business.
•
Pre-start venture looking to set up a new tourist activity.
•
Start-up support for a mobile catering business touring rural area offering quality
take-away food.
Kickstart Scheme
In October 2020 the Government announced a £2 billion fund to create high quality 6-month
work placements for young people aged 16-24, who are claiming Universal Credit. With the
support of our local authorities, Torridge District Council & North Devon Council; Barnstaple
Chamber & North Devon+ are operating as an approved Gateway for employers to access
the scheme through the Department for Work & Pensions (DWP). ND+ are providing support
to micro and small businesses who individually have less than 30 placements to access the
scheme.
To date ND+ have had 38 companies approved by the DWP for a Kickstart Placement with
86 placements in total.
Out of 86 placements the DWP have matched their clients with 48 placements to date.
So far 11 young people have completed their 6-month placement and 9 (82%) have already
been kept on in permanent roles by companies such as Atlas Packaging, Moo Free
Chocolates, Lineal Software Solutions and 514 Elemental which is a fantastic success. Atlas
Packaging have now also registered further placement opportunities.
ND+ are still working hard with the Employers and the Kickstart team at the Job Centres to
find suitable candidates for the remaining placements.
The scheme was officially due to complete recruitment in December 2021; however, the
government has now extended this until March 2022 with placements running up to 6
months beyond the cut-off date.
Future Farm Resilience Programme
ND+ is currently working in partnership with West Devon Business Information Point to
deliver the Future Farm Resilience Programme.
This is offering free, tailored one to one advice, webinars, and business skills development
workshops to help farmers and land managers navigate the changes brought about by the
Agricultural Transition.

Page 57

Between 2021 and 2027, the government will gradually reduce and then stop Direct
Payments. Instead, farmers will be supported to improve the environment, improve animal
health and welfare, and reduce carbon emissions.
There will be three levels of support aimed at paying for sustainable farming practices,
creating habitats for nature recovery, and making landscape-scale change, such as
establishing new woodland and other ecosystem services.
The move away from Direct Payments will be a big change for some farmers, so they will
happen over a 7-year transition period to give time to plan and adjust. The Future Farming
Resilience Fund has been funded by Defra to allow us to support farmers and land
managers with this transition.
The support is free and available from September 2021 to February 2022 to any farmer or
land manager currently in receipt of BPS payments. The scheme is running throughout
Devon and Somerset, and North Devon + is supporting business across Devon.
DCC ‘Growth Hub Services for All’ Programme
North Devon + has successfully bid to run the Devon County Council ‘Growth Hub Services
for All’ business support programme within North Devon, Torridge, and West Devon.
This programme will provide a mix of one-to-one support, specialist advice and group
workshops to help businesses across the area to grow. Through the programme,
businessses can receive up to 12 hours' of support.
The support will include a combination of workshops, 1-2-1 advice and follow-up support and
will run until March 2023.

3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
Financial Implications
Human Resources Implications
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
Equality/Diversity
Risk Management
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
Climate Change
No climate change implications.
Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Date of Consultation – 24/11/2021

Page 58

Cllr Hicks
It’s good to see so much going on to help our local business community. The covid
pandemic hit the area hard and supporting small business will be key to the recovery of the
local economy.
4.

CONCLUSIONS
That ND+ continues to provide a wide range of high quality business support services across
Northern Devon. These services are vital to ensure that businesses in the area flourish and
grow and that the area as a whole sees an improvement in economic performance.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that members note the contents of the report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Date of Consultation – 24th November 2021
Officers Consulted – Steve Hearse, Staci Dorey, David Heyes.

Contact Officer:

Sean Kearney

Page 59

Agenda Item 13
REPORT OF

Finance Manager and S.151 Officer

To:

Community & Resources Committee

Subject:

QBR 2

Date:

6 December 2021

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
For Members to receive to consider the recommendation from Internal Overview & Scrutiny
regarding the utilisation of the projected surplus for 2021/22 of £853k as per the Quarterly Business
Report (QBR) for the period ending 30th September 2021

1.

INTRODUCTION
A report was presented to Internal Scrutiny Committee on the 16th November 2021 detailing
the projected financial surplus for the financial year 2021/22 and outlining the utilisation
thereof.

2.

REPORT
QBR 2 2021/22 projected a surplus for the financial year 2021/22 of £853k. The detail of the
projected surplus being contained within the QBR report presented at Internal Overview &
Scrutiny. For information the key adverse and favourable variances are shown below.
Key significnat adverse variances
The project over spend of £139k relates to the impact of the final LGA pay offer for 2020/21. The previous pay
offer was 0% for staff earning under £24k and £250 per annum for employees earnign below £24k. Salary
budgets for 2020/21 were set on this basis.

£139k

The Council in line with its financial procedures tendered for Tipping off charges relating to its recycling
collections. The result of the tender exercise was increased costs fo £67k

£67k

The projected "over spend" on Professional fees of £57k pertains to North Devon Plus administrating
discretionary business support grants on behalf of the Council. However the Council has received New
Burdens Grant funding of £228k to meet costs associated with administration of business support grants

£57k

Key Favourable Variances
Planning Income continues to be at historically high levels as was the case in the financial year 2021/22

£520k

Central Government has provided the Council with £228k New Burden's Grant funding for administrating
Restart Business Support grants and discretionary Business Support Grants. The costs of administrating
the Restart Grants will be largely abosrbed by existing staff members (some small overtime). However the
discretionary business support grants are more complex to administrator and colleagues from North Devon
Plus will process these at a cost to the Council of circa £57k

£228k

The period of charging for Car Access to the Burrows has been extended by one month for 2020/21; allied to
the increase in stayactions has seen a dramatic increase in income; this has been partly offset by increased
staffing costs of £27k.

£154k

The change in law pertaining to the operation of leisure centre and other businesses ceased on the 16th July
2021, with all restrictions being lifted. The Council had previously agreed to support its leisure operator 1610
through this period, and had set aside £150k for this purpose. However it is curretly envisaged that the
National Leisure Recovery Fund grants will be utilised to support 1610.

£150k

The Council received £86k for the sale of an Easement relating to South St Torrington

Page 60

£86k

At the time of writing this report the impact of Central Government’s spending review upon
Torridge Council is not known; however there are several significant cost pressures which
have arisen since the budget and MTFS (Medium Term Financial Strategy) was approved by
Full Council in February 2021; namely:







Increased financial support to Leisure
Construction Price inflation
Increased Employer’s National Insurance contributions to meet additional costs of
Social Care
Impact of the 2021/22 local government pay award
Increased employer pension contributions
Inflation pressures, Fuel, Utilities etc

It is therefore recommended that the projected surplus of £853k is allocated as follows





3.

£100k to continue the Councils’ support for Apprentices, allowing it to “grow its own”
£153k funding for a Trainee and Graduate Planning reserve; the Council has a
relatively aging workforce and to supplement the Council’s apprentice scheme there
will be occasions where it makes operational sense to train up new employees who
will have already attained a higher levels of qualification skills to succession plan on
occasion where there is still an incumbent in place.
£600k to the Transition in Government Funding reserve. This reserve exists to
manage the uncertainty in Government Funding, allowing to Council to set a
balanced budget whilst corrective action is taken to bring the budgets back into
balance.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
No specific legal implications
Financial Implications
Considered in the QBR and the report
Human Resources Implications
Previous commitments from the Council to support Apprentices
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
None
Equality/Diversity
Not applicable
Risk Management
Recruitment has been challenging for posts in some service areas for a number of years,
which poses a clear risk to service delivery. Having in place both and apprentice and trainee
/ graduate schemes provides the Council the opportunity to better plan for current and future
workforce planning.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
This report is in compliance with the Council’s Constitution
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
Not applicable

Page 61

Climate Change
Not applicable
4.

CONCLUSIONS
Committee and Resources determines the utilisation of the projected financial surplus for
2021/22.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That Members approve the recommendation from Internal Overview & Scrutiny that the
projected financial surplus for 2021/22 of £853k is utilised as detailed below:




£100k to Apprentice Reserve
£153k to Trainee and Graduate Succession Planning Reserve
£600k to Transition in Government Funding Reserve

Page 62

Agenda Item 14

Page 63

Page 64

Page 65

Page 66

Page 67

Page 68

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

